FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/3/2019 3:38 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>97734-8</u> Court of Appeals No. 77754-8-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROGER LEISHMAN,

Respondent,

v.

OGDEN, MURPHY & WALLACE, PLLC, and PATRICK PEARCE,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University Street, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 rsulkin@mcnaul.com cmartirosian@mcnaul.com McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

Robert M. Sulkin WSBA No. 15425 Claire Martirosian WSBA No. 49428

Attorneys for Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court should grant review so that RCW 4.24.510 is not rewritten by the Court of Appeals contrary to public policy and the clear intent of the Washington legislature. The legislature specifically chose to protect any "person" who communicates "a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state or local government" from civil liability "for claims based upon the communication" regarding matters "reasonably of concern" to that agency. Despite the legislature's broad mandate, the Court of Appeals withheld this immunity from Defendants Patrick Pearce and Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC ("OMW") on the basis that they are no longer "persons" under the statute solely because they were asked for information by a government entity and received compensation for providing it. Pearce and OMW were hired by the Attorney General's Office ("AGO"), as independent contractors, to conduct an external investigation regarding the workplace grievances of Assistant Attorney General (here Plaintiff) Roger Leishman, who blames his subsequent termination on the investigative report.

The Court of Appeals essentially rewrote RCW 4.24.510 when it found the statute's immunity was limited to "private citizen whistleblowers" who "petition the government on [their] own behalf."

App. 4, 10. This conclusion departs dramatically from the plain text of

RCW 4.24.510 and narrows the statute's broad protections, contrary to the legislature's intent to protect speech to government "regardless of content or motive." Moreover, the Court of Appeals misconstrued and improperly extended this Court's opinion in *Segaline v. Department of Labor and Industries*, which concerned only the "narrow issue" of whether a government agency *itself* is a "person" under the statute. *Segaline* was clear that "non-governmental organizations and individuals" are protected by RCW 4.24.510, and it is undisputed that Pearce and OMW were not government organizations or agents of the government. As external investigators, they were not speaking *for* the AGO—rather, they were speaking *to* the AGO. Neither *Segaline* nor the text of RCW 4.24.510 justify the Court of Appeals' holding.

This Court should take this opportunity to clarify *Segaline* and resolve an important question of public policy. The Court of Appeals' decision was animated by an apparent belief that Pearce and OMW's receipt of compensation renders then unworthy of the statute's protection. Yet the same policy considerations that support the protection of "private citizen whistleblowers" also weigh in favor of protecting investigators who assist public function investigations into matters of concern to government entities. A government entity should be able to solicit information from any individual or organization it wishes. The mere fact

that a government entity might compensate these individuals or organizations should not automatically disqualify them from RCW 4.24.510's immunity. If left to stand, the Court of Appeals' decision will disincentivize external investigators from accepting such assignments—or from fully reporting wrongdoing uncovered during such assignments—out of fear of facing the burden and expense of lawsuits arising out of their conclusions. This is certainly not what the legislature intended when it enacted RCW 4.24.510. This Court should grant review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are OMW and Pearce, defendants in the trial court and respondents before the Court of Appeals.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, published decision filed May 31, 2018, attached in the Appendix ("App.").

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the Court reverse the Court of Appeals' decision that OMW (a professional limited liability corporation) and Pearce (an individual) are no longer "persons" under RCW 4.24.510 and are thus stripped of the immunities provided by that statute, simply because they conducted, at the AGO's request, an external investigation regarding Leishman's employment, a matter "reasonably of concern" to the AGO,

and received compensation for their work?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the trial court granted judgment on the pleadings, the statement of facts is drawn from the allegations in the complaint, which are presumed to be true. *Nw. Animal Rights Network v. State*, 158 Wn. App. 237, 241, 242 P.3d 891 (2010).

A. The Attorney General's Office Fires Leishman

Leishman started working at the AGO as Chief Legal Advisor to Western Washington University in 2015. CP 3 ¶ 17. Shortly after commencing work at the AGO, he began exhibiting trichotillomania, anxiety, and other symptoms, and within a few months was diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder ("PTSD") and codependency. CP 3 ¶¶ 18, 21. In January 2016, Leishman informed the AGO Human Resources Department that he intended to move forward with a "formal disability accommodation" request as a result of these symptoms. CP 4 ¶ 27. Leishman submitted his accommodation request on February 22, 2016, which the AGO subsequently denied. CP 4-5 ¶¶ 29, 34.

In the same timeframe, Leishman also drafted a written complaint regarding sexual orientation discrimination against the AGO, claiming that the AGO had "t[aken] serious adverse action against him" because of the AGO's "deeply rooted implicit and explicit homophobia." CP 4-5 ¶¶ 31-

33. Leishman is openly gay. CP 1 ¶ 1. Leishman provided his draft sexual orientation discrimination complaint to his supervisor during an inperson meeting on March 1, 2016, in an effort to "see if they could resolve the matter privately in accordance with AGO policy." CP 4 ¶ 31. During the meeting, his supervisor disagreed with the allegations against her in Leishman's complaint, and Leishman admits that he became "angry, restless, and agitated" and "raised his voice." CP 4-5 ¶¶ 31-33.

The next day, Leishman formally submitted his complaint to the AGO. CP 4-5 ¶¶ 32-33. The AGO promptly took steps to address the situation. The AGO Regional Services Division Chief informed Leishman that "the AGO was aware of his sexual orientation discrimination complaint and took it seriously, and said [Leishman] would be contacted when the AGO appointed someone to investigate his complaint." CP 3, 5 ¶¶ 24, 36.

The AGO retained Patrick Pearce of OMW as an independent outside investigator to conduct a personnel-related investigation and report of findings related to Leishman's complaint. CP 6 ¶ 41. Pearce interviewed multiple witnesses, including Leishman, and considered various documents provided by Leishman, including a "written chronology enumerating multiple examples of homophobia and implicit bias at the AGO." CP 6-7 ¶¶ 43, 47, 49-51. Pearce's investigation

culminated in the preparation of a report provided to the AGO. CP $8 \, \P$ 54.

The report considered Leishman's claim of sexual orientation discrimination and whether he had behaved improperly during his March 1, 2016 meeting with his supervisor. CP 4, 8 ¶¶ 31-32, 58, 60. The report concluded that Leishman's claim of sexual orientation discrimination was not substantiated and that Leishman had acted inappropriately in his meeting with his supervisor. *Id.; see also* CP 213-15. The AGO terminated Leishman shortly thereafter. CP 5, 8 ¶¶ 37, 57.

B. Leishman Sues Pearce and OMW Based on their Report to the AGO; The Trial Court Grants Judgment on the Pleadings

Although Leishman had initially threatened to bring employment-related claims against the AGO, they were resolved via settlement. CP 9 ¶¶ 67-69. In the settlement agreement, Leishman "released his claims against the State, including the AGO, and any officers, agents, employees, agencies, or departments of the State of Washington." CP 9 ¶ 60.

Leishman subsequently filed suit against OMW and Pearce stem-

¹ Though not necessary to the Court's decision, the OMW report is available at CP 197-215. The OMW report is extensively referenced in Leishman's Complaint such that it is properly considered in evaluating this case. *See* CP 8-9 ¶¶ 55-66; *Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp.*, 186 Wn. App. 838, 844, 347 P.3d 487 (2015), *citing Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 726, 189 P.3d 168 (2008) ("[W]here a plaintiff asserts allegations in a complaint on specific documents but does not physically attach those documents, the documents may be considered in ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings.").

ming from their investigation into his workplace grievances, bringing claims for negligence, violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, and discrimination. CP 1, 9-12 ¶¶ 73-105; see CP 8 ¶¶ 59, 61-63. The gist of the complaint was that the defendants had harmed him through their investigation and report submitted to the AGO, his former employer.

In his complaint against Pearce and OMW, Leishman specifically alleged that his claims were not released by his settlement with the AGO, as they were not "officers, agents, employees, agencies, or department" of the state. CP 9 \P 69, 71; CP 2 \P 8.

Pearce and OMW answered the complaint and brought a motion for judgment on the pleadings under CR 12(c). CP 303. The motion sought dismissal on the basis of immunity under RCW 4.24.510, which provides

A person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state, or local government . . . is immune from civil liability for claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization.

The trial court found that immunity applied, granted the motion, and awarded fees and costs. CP 431, 438.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision

Leishman appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial

court's judgment. The Court of Appeals agreed with Leishman that RCW 4.24.510 protects only "private citizen whistleblowers" and not Pearce and OMW, simply because they contracted with the AGO to perform an external employment investigation and received payment for their services. App. 5-10. Though the Court of Appeals found this Court's opinion in *Segaline* was "not dispositive" on the question (App. 6), the Court nonetheless held that "government contractors" were not intended by the legislature to be protected by RCW 4.24.510, and that "government contractors" therefore are not "persons" under the statute. App. 5, 10.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves "issue[s] of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." If the Court of Appeals' decision is permitted to stand, the protections of RCW 4.24.510 will be improperly narrowed to protect only "private citizen whistleblowers" who "petition the government on [their] own behalf" (App. 5, 10) and exclude persons—like Pearce, OMW, and others—who are asked by the government to provide information on subjects of concern to the government. This limitation is not present anywhere in the plain text of the statute and, as will be discussed further below, will require courts to engage in an inquiry into the communicator's motivation that is inconsistent with the

legislature's intent in passing RCW 4.24.510. This holding further improperly extends this Court's opinion in *Segaline* and is entirely unjustified by public policy. The government *should* be encouraged to seek information from any source it wishes, including from external investigators. The mere fact that those investigators may be compensated does not make their speech unworthy of protection. If the Court of Appeals' decision is permitted to stand, investigators will be disincentivized from accepting such assignments out of fear that they will face civil lawsuits, and the government will be deprived of the flow of information the legislature expressly intended to protect.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Disregards the Plain Text of RCW 4.24.510 and Narrows the Statute's Protection Contrary to Legislative Intent

In 1989, the legislature enacted RCW 4.24.510, which immunizes any "person who communicates a complaint or information" to government, in order to "encourage the reporting of potential wrongdoing to governmental entities." *Gontmakher v. City of Bellevue*, 120 Wn. App. 365, 367, 85 P.3d 926 (2004). RCW 4.24.510 is considered to an anti-SLAPP ("Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation") statute.

The plain language of RCW 4.24.510 is extremely broad. As the legislative statement of intent makes clear, the immunity is designed to facilitate "early dismissal" of lawsuits against "individuals" and

"organizations" based on communications made to influence the government, without regard to "content or motive." RCW 4.24.510. The legislative intent statement shows that the legislature intended both natural persons and organizational entities to be "persons" under the statute.

Since its passage, the statute has been interpreted broadly by Washington courts.²

However, in 2010, however, this Court, in a plurality opinion without controlling reasoning, did find RCW 4.24.510 was limited in one "narrow" respect—that a "government agency that reports information to another government agency is [not] a 'person' under RCW 4.24.510." *Segaline v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 169 Wn. 2d 467, 473, 238 P.3d 1107 (2010). RCW 4.24.510 does not define the term "person," and the Court explained that the "persons" receiving immunity under the statute were "non-government individual[s] or organization[s]." *Id.* at 474 n.4. It

² For example, RCW 4.24.510 does not protect only the fact of the communication to the government agency, but all claims "based upon" the communication, including, but not limited to, the "conduct of the investigation" leading to the communication, and other "events surrounding the communication." *Dang v. Ehredt*, 95 Wn. App. 670, 681-84, 977 P.2d 29 (1999). Furthermore, numerous cases have applied the immunity to corporate and business entities, not just individuals or non-profit advocacy groups. *See, e.g., Dang*, 95 Wn. App. at 681-84 (holding that bank corporation had immunity for communications with police regarding possible criminal activity); *Ferguson v. Baker Law Firm, P.S.*, 2019 WL 3926173, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 19, 2019) (unpublished) (granting immunity to the Baker Law Firm for communications to Washington Employment Security Department regarding reasons for plaintiff employee's termination); *Akmal v. Cingular Wireless Inc.*, No. C06-748JLR, 2007 WL 1725557, at *5 (W.D. Wash. June 8, 2007), aff'd, 300 F. App'x 463 (9th Cir. 2008) (similar).

is beyond dispute that Pearce and OMW are not government agencies, and, as discussed above, Leishman expressly admitted that Pearce and OMW were not government agencies or agents of government entities. CP 2 ¶ 8, 9 ¶¶ 69, 71. Indeed, the Court of Appeals noted that *Segaline* was "not dispositive" on the question of whether Pearce and OMW, retained by the AGO to perform an external investigation regarding Leishman's employment, were protected by the statute. App. 6.

Yet the Court of Appeals ignored the plain text of RCW 4.24.510 and the legislature's intent, and departed from the "narrow" holding of *Segaline*, when it announced an *entirely new* construction of RCW 4.24.510. No Washington court has ever held, as the Court of Appeals did, that the protections of RCW 4.24.510 are limited to "private citizen whistleblowers" who "advocate to government" or "petition the government on [their] own behalf." App. 5, 10. These limitations are nowhere evident in the plain text of the statute, which makes no reference to "citizens" or "rights of petition," and, as discussed further below, are entirely inconsistent with the legislative intent.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Will Require an Inquiry Into the Speaker's Motive, Contrary to Legislative Intent

The Court of Appeals' opinion is utterly at odds with the legislature's express intent that immunity be applied to government

communications without regard to the "content or motive" of the speech. Though RCW 4.24.510 contained a "good faith" requirement at its inception, that requirement was deleted by the legislature in 2002. *Bailey v. State*, 147 Wn. App. 251, 261, 191 P.3d 1285 (2008) (*citing* Laws of 2002, ch. 232. § 1). Noting that the original statute "failed to set forth clear rules for early dismissal review," the legislature removed the good faith requirement in an effort to make it easier to dismiss cases at an early stage in the litigation, noting the statute protects speech "regardless of content or motive." RCW 4.24.510; *Bailey*, 147 Wn. App. at 261; *cf. Dutton v. Wash. Physicians Health Program*, 87 Wn. App. 614, 622, 943 P.2d 298, 302 (1997) (noting that "good faith is usually a question of fact" not resolvable on summary judgment).

Following this amendment, courts have applied the immunity broadly without inquiring into the content of the communication or motivation of the communicator. For example, in *Bailey*, Eastern Washington University's former risk manager alleged the University had terminated her employment based on the defendant's complaint. The defendant informed the University that its risk manager had purported to represent the University at a board meeting for the county's Air Pollution Control Authority when she actually was serving the interests of her husband's asbestos removal business and that she had previously been

charged with embezzlement. *Id.* at 255-58. The Court of Appeals held that RCW 4.24.510 immunized the defendant from suit. *Id.* The plaintiff's claims that the complaint was made maliciously did not negate application of the statute, as the defendant had no obligation to prove she acted in good faith. *Id.* at 261-62.

Similarly, in *Dehlin v. Forget Me Not Animal Shelter*, 200 Wn. App. 1072, 2017 WL 4712142, at *7 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 19, 2017) (unpublished), the Court of Appeals concluded that the defendants' communications to police were immunized even if they were motivated, as plaintiff claimed, by a "preexisting grudge" against plaintiff.

Both *Bailey* and *Dehlin* protection extends far beyond "citizen whistleblowers" and extends to those making even knowingly false and malicious reports. In other words, the communicator of the "complaint or information" does not have to be a "citizen" who is "advocat[ing] to government" (App. 10) whose motive is to protect the public good—the statute is equally protective of communications motivated by malice or a grudge against the subject of the "complaint or information." By eliminating a "good faith" requirement, the legislature determined to achieve the goal of early dismissal by dispensing with factual inquiries into the motivation behind any particular communication.

The Court of Appeals, in artificially limiting the definition of

"person" under the statute to "citizens" who "petition the government on [their] own behalf," has injected substantial uncertainly into the analysis by effectively requiring the courts to conduct a factual inquiry into the content of the communication or motivation behind a communication. The Court of Appeals found that Pearce and OMW "benefit[ted] by being paid for [their] services" and were therefore "not exercising [their] right to petition the government on [their] own behalf." App. 10. There is no support in Washington law for the Court of Appeals' finding that Pearce and OMW are stripped of the immunity to which they are entitled under RCW 4.24.510 simply because they "benefit[ted] by being paid" for OMW Report. If RCW 4.24.510 protects potentially false or malicious communications motivated by "preexisting grudge[s]," then it should also protect communications motivated by a desire to receive compensation from a government entity who has specifically requested information from an external source regarding a subject of concern. The legislature has allowed grudgeholders to communicate false and malicious statements to the government without fear of reprisal. Consistent with this aim, the legislature certainly did not intend to disincentivize external investigators from accepting assignments in good faith from government agencies.

The Court of Appeals relied heavily upon Justice Madsen's concurring opinion in *Segaline*. Justice Madsen relied heavily upon

Kobrin v. Gastfriend, 443 Mass. 327, 332, 821 N.E.2d 60 (2005), a case construing the Massachusetts anti-SLAPP statute, to support her conclusion that government entities were not "persons" under Washington's anti-SLAPP statute. However, the Massachusetts statute differs dramatically from RCW 4.24.510 and contains the following language, which is absent from the Washington statute:

In any case in which a party asserts that the civil claims, counterclaims, or cross claims against said party are based on said party's exercise of *its right of petition* under the constitution of the United States or of the commonwealth, said party may bring a special motion to dismiss.

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