I.  INTRODUCTION 

This case concerns the proper construction of Washington’s 

pioneering whistleblower immunity statute, RCW 4.24.500 et seq. But the 

case is also about what happens when lawyers start lying, and then 

won’t stop. Plaintiff Roger Leishman therefore joins Defendants in asking 

the Court to accept review. 

The nation’s first law protecting whistleblowers from “SLAPP” 

litigation – “Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation” – began in 

Olympia as the Brenda Hill Bill. SLAPP lawsuits are intended to silence 

critics by burdening them with such onerous legal expenses that they 

“intimidate citizens from exercising their First Amendment rights and 

rights under article I, section 5 of the Washington State Constitution.” 

Segaline v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 467, 473, 238 P.3d 1107 

(2010). During the 1980s, Brenda Hill and her husband bought a home 

from a real estate developer. When the Hills tried to refinance their 

mortgage, they discovered the developer had not paid the excise tax on 

hundreds of homes. Acting on information voluntarily provided by Mrs. 

Hill, the Washington Department of Revenue collected $477,000 in 

unpaid taxes owed by the developer. In retaliation, the developer filed a 

$1.8 million defamation suit that bankrupted the Hills. The Legislature 
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enacted the law now codified at RCW 4.24.500 et seq. in response to 

Brenda Hill’s story. See Laws of 1989, ch. 234. 

Three decades later, in March 2016, Leishman was employed by 

the Washington Attorney General’s Office as chief legal advisor to 

Western Washington University. It was his dream job. Nevertheless, 

Leishman was struggling with both his recent PTSD diagnosis and a 

hostile work environment. When Leishman submitted a complaint 

regarding his supervisors’ homophobic conduct, the AGO hired 

Defendants Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC (“OMW”) and Patrick Pearce to 

investigate Leishman’s allegations. Both the AGO and Defendants 

explicitly represented to Leishman – and to the public as part of the 

State’s rigorous contract procurement process – that Pearce’s 

investigation was limited to Leishman’s complaint of discrimination based 

on sexual orientation.  

That was a lie. At the direction of senior employment lawyers at 

the AGO, Pearce focused his investigation on a separate, undisclosed 

complaint by Leishman’s supervisor regarding conduct that was related 

to Leishman’s disability. This secret complaint was one of the subjects of 

Leishman’s representation by the experienced employment attorney 

Leishman finally had the good sense to hire. Six weeks later, Pearce 
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produced a substandard and biased report based on an improper ex 

parte interrogation and fabricated information provided solely by the 

AGO itself. Pearce’s treatment of Leishman was part of a pattern of 

fraudulent conduct in the purportedly “independent” investigation 

business Defendants market to state and local government agencies. 

After settling his wrongful termination claims against the State, 

Leishman filed this suit against Defendants asserting claims for fraud, 

negligent misrepresentation, and negligence, and for violations of the 

Washington Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60, and the Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86. The trial court entered judgment dismissing 

the case pursuant to CR 12(c). The court ruled as a matter of law that 

each of Leishman’s causes of action was barred by RCW 4.24.510 – on the 

grounds that Pearce’s taxpayer-funded assignment involved their 

communicating a “complaint or information” about Leishman to the 

AGO. On September 3, 2019, the Court of Appeals reversed the lower 

court’s erroneous ruling. 

As Defendants argue in their Petition for Review, this case 

presents important issues of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. Leishman respectfully requests that this Court 

grant review, and affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision.  
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II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. When it enacted the “Brenda Hill Bill,” RCW 4.24.500 et seq., did 
the Legislature intend to grant absolute immunity from civil 
liability for injuries caused by government vendors who are paid 
to communicate with their agency customers as part of their 
contractual engagements?  

 
2. Did the trial court also err in entering judgment on the pleadings 

on the separate and independent ground that Leishman’s 
Complaint includes claims that did not arise from Defendants’ 
alleged communication to a government agency in April 2016?1 

 
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Courts resolving a motion for judgment on the pleadings under CR 

12(c) must “presume the truth of the allegations and may consider 

hypothetical facts not included in the record.” Wash. Trucking Ass’ns v. 

Emp’t Sec. Dep’t, 188 Wn.2nd 198, 393 P.3d 761 (2017) (emphasis 

added) (citing FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. 

Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d 954, 962, 331 P.3d 29 (2014)). Dismissal is 

“appropriate only when it appears beyond doubt” that the plaintiff 

cannot prove any set of facts that “would justify recovery.” P.E. Sys., LLC 

v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 210, 289 P.3d 638 (2012)). 

 
1 The Court of Appeals did not reach Leishman’s alternative argument for 
reversing the trial court’s entry of judgment on the pleadings. See Appellant’s 
Brief at 25-28; Reply Brief at 18-20. In the event the Court accepts review of this 
case and reverses the Court of Appeals’ ruling regarding the status of 
government vendors, the Court may decide the second issue presented, or 
remand the case to the Court of Appeals instead. RAP 13.7(b). 
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A. The Washington Attorney General’s Office discriminated against 
Leishman on the basis of his disability. 

Within weeks of beginning work at the AGO in July 2015, 

Leishman began exhibiting strange new anxiety symptoms. ¶ 18.2 Some of 

his AGO colleagues were bothered by Leishman’s odd conduct, which was 

triggered by his as-yet-undiagnosed disability. Senior bureaucrats at the 

AGO quickly decided Leishman was a “bad fit,” and resolved to get rid of 

him. Leishman’s colleagues began keeping secret files documenting 

Leishman’s purported misconduct.3 See, e.g., CP 188-89 (list of 

documents the AGO provided to Pearce, but not to Leishman or his 

lawyer). 

In November 2015, Leishman’s doctor diagnosed him with Post-

Traumatic Stress Disorder. ¶ 21. His symptoms were triggered by recent 

workplace dynamics, but they were rooted in trauma that occurred thirty 

years ago.4 The actions of Leishman’s AGO colleagues, including their 

gaslighting campaign, significantly exacerbated his symptoms. ¶39. 

 On March 1, 2015, the AGO denied Leishman’s initial request for a 

 
2 Citations to paragraph numbers refer to the Complaint, CP 1-13. Additional citations, 
including references to the Clerk’s Papers, may be treated as presenting hypothetical 
facts. Leishman is not asking the Court to rule on the merits of any legal claim or bar 
grievance, but rather to determine whether the trial court misapplied CR 12(c).   
3See https://www.rogerleishman.com/2018/12/ConfirmationBias.html. 
4See https://www.rogerleishman.com/2019/07/UnrighteousDominion.html. 
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reasonable accommodation of his disability. ¶34. The AGO never 

responded to numerous subsequent communications about his disability 

from Leishman and his attorney before firing him ten weeks later. ¶52. 

B. The Attorney General’s Office also discriminated against 
Leishman on the basis of his sexual orientation. 

In October 2015, the AGO took adverse employment action against 

Leishman – including giving a $3,000 raise to every single Assistant 

Attorney General except Leishman. ¶ 20. During his long-delayed 

performance evaluation in January 2016, Leishman discovered his 

employers had acted based on a litany of previously undisclosed 

supervisor complaints about his conduct. ¶ 25. As so often happens with 

perceived misfits, the AGO credited criticisms that reflected implicit or 

explicit bias. Some of the AGO’s complaints related to Leishman’s 

disability, and therefore involved conduct protected under the WLAD and 

the ADA.5 Other AGO complaints reflected a pattern of homophobic 

conduct by certain of his supervisors and client contacts. For example, 

during the 2015-16 school year, WWU conducted a search for a new 

university president. During a public meeting of the Trustees, Leishman 

compared their task to Seattle Men’s Chorus search to replace its 

 
5 See, e.g., Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 93 P.3d 930 (2004); Gambini v. 
Total Renal Care, Inc.,486 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 2007) 
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conductor for the first time in thirty-five years. CP 403. The Trustees were 

aware Leishman sang in the Chorus; several Trustees had attended 

concerts. Nevertheless, the State took adverse employment action against 

Leishman because one of its representatives was offended by this LGBT 

arts analogy. Id. 

Following the Attorney General’s internal procedure for handling 

allegations of discrimination, on March 2, 2016, Leishman submitted a 

written complaint regarding a specific homophobic encounter with his 

immediate supervisor that had occurred in September 2015. ¶ 33. This 

incident was among the AGO’s bases for taking adverse employment 

action against Leishman in October 2015. Id. 

C. The Attorney General’s Office hired Pearce to investigate 
Leishman’s sexual orientation discrimination grievance. 

Defendant Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC is a Washington 

professional limited liability corporation. ¶ 2. Defendant Patrick Pearce is 

a member of OMW. ¶ 3. OMW and Pearce are licensed private 

investigators. ¶ 4. Pearce is also an attorney. Id.  

Defendants provide employment investigation services to state 

and local agencies under a rate-capped Master Contract with the State. 

CP 322. As required by their vendor contract, Defendants maintain an 
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insurance policy providing $10 million in coverage for liability arising from 

their investigation services. CP 480. 

In March 2016, the State issued a Work Order authorizing 

Defendants to conduct an investigation into Leishman’s discrimination 

complaint. Both the AGO and Pearce represented to Leishman that 

OMW’s investigation was indeed limited to the sexual orientation 

discrimination issues raised by Leishman’s complaint. ¶¶ 41-44. The AGO 

directed Leishman to meet with Pearce one-on-one and answer his 

questions. ¶ 51. 

D. Leishman engaged an employment attorney to represent him. 

Recognizing he was unable to communicate effectively with his 

supervisors about his disability or the AGO’s purported performance 

concerns, Leishman hired Seattle attorney Sean Phelan on March 22, 

2016. Ms. Phelan is an experienced Seattle employment lawyer with 

expertise in disability issues. Leishman engaged her to represent him in 

negotiating with the AGO about potential reasonable potential 

accommodations and any other disputes related to his employment, with 

a single narrow exception: as a veteran LGBT rights advocate himself, 

Leishman did not ask Ms. Phelan to represent him in connection with his 

pending sexual orientation discrimination grievance. ¶¶ 52-53. 
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E. At the direction of the Attorney General’s Office, Pearce secretly 
changed the scope of their investigation assignment to include 
the subject matter of Leishman’s representation by counsel. 

Soon after assigning Leishman’s sexual orientation discrimination 

complaint to OMW, the AGO decided it made sense to combine the 

investigation into his narrow discrimination complaint with a second 

assignment:  having the same investigator evaluate secret complaints 

from the supervisors who had already decided to get rid of Leishman. In a 

damning March 16, 2016 email withheld by Defendants during discovery, 

Pearce referred to his initial meeting with Chief Deputy Attorney General 

Shane Esquibel and Assistant Attorney General Kari Hanson the week 

before. Pearce’s email revealed the AGO’s and Defendants’ shared secret 

understanding regarding the actual scope of Pearce’s investigation: 

Per our recent call, my understanding is I am looking at: 1) 
discrimination based on sexual orientation; and 2) conduct 
violations regarding interactions with a coworker on 
February 26 [sic].6  

 
CP 339 (emphasis added); see also CP 197 (Final Ogden Murphy report 

states the investigation involved two separate issues). 

In the same email, Pearce acknowledged that from the outset he 

 
6 During his regular weekly meeting with his supervisor on March 1, 2016, Leishman 
raised his voice when she accused him of faking his disability. ¶32. Leishman’s response 
was typical for individuals living with PTSD. CP 322. 
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misled Leishman regarding the scope of his investigation: 

I had a brief phone call with the complainant this 
afternoon regarding the interview scheduled for tomorrow 
morning. One of the topics that came up was scope of 
investigation. Per the complainant, he understood the 
scope was limited to discrimination based on sexual 
orientation.  

 
CP 339 (emphasis added). Neither the AGO nor Defendants ever told 

Leishman they’d expanded the original scope of the investigation to 

include the subject matter of Ms. Phelan’s representation. ¶¶ 52-53. 

After the AGO learned Leishman had engaged an attorney, the 

State’s employment lawyers nevertheless improperly directed Pearce to 

again interrogate Leishman alone in OMW's offices for over an hour. 

When they realized their error, the lawyers representing the AGO 

stonewalled repeated inquiries from Leishman’s employment attorney, 

deprived him of the benefit of counsel, and embarked on an unethical 

coverup.7 ¶ 52. 

The AGO and Defendants never gave Leishman or his attorney an 

opportunity to respond to his colleagues’ criticisms. Instead, relying on 

admissions obtained from Leishman during Pearce’s ex parte 

 
7 See https://www.rogerleishman.com/p/hanson-esquibel-rpc-42-violation.html. RPC 4.2 
protects parties who are represented by counsel “against possible overreaching by other 
lawyers who are participating in the matter.” In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against 
Haley, 156 Wn.2d 324, 333–39, 126 P.3d 1262 (2006). 
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interrogation as well as on accusations from the AGO’s secret files, 

Pearce issued his final investigation report on April 29, 2016. 

Defendants invite the Court to review the entire Ogden Murphy 

Report. Pet. 6 n.1 (citing CP 197-215). Please do. The shoddiness of 

Pearce’s work product, his neglect of Leishman’s actual sexual orientation 

discrimination complaint, and Pearce’s ultra vires expansion of the 

investigation to include the subject matter of Ms. Phelan’s representation 

all speak for themselves.  

F. Defendants’ conduct is part of a pattern of deceptive business 
practices.    

In May 2014, the Office of Insurance Commissioner’s Chief 

Hearing Officer Patricia Petersen filed a whistleblower complaint against 

a superior in the OIC after he improperly pressured her to rule for the OIC 

in matters pending before her. ¶ 84. The OIC engaged Pearce to conduct 

a taxpayer-funded “independent” outside investigation. Defendants 

issued another clumsy report that whitewashed the OIC’s conduct and 

broadly attacked Judge Petersen’s character and competence. ¶ 85. The 

State ultimately paid $450,000 to Judge Petersen to settle her claim. Id.  

G. The trial court swiftly dismissed this pro se lawsuit under CR 
12(c).   

Leishman filed his Complaint on May 10, 2017. CP 1. During a 



 12 

discovery conference on August 18, 2017, counsel for Defendants 

delighted the trial judge with the news that they would be filing a CR 

12(c) motion, although the first available hearing date was not until 

November 3, 2017. The court forbade Leishman from conducting 

discovery related to Pearce’s employer-whitewashing investigation into 

Judge Petersen’s conduct. CP 289. At the State’s request, the court also 

entered a broad order permanently sealing virtually all of OWM’s file 

from the Leishman investigation, rather than considering Leishman’s 

individual objections to the AGO’s numerous overbroad privilege 

designations. CP 435. 

In their sandbagging reply brief in support of the CR 12(c) motion, 

Defendants attached a recent order from another busy King County 

Superior Court judge who had applied RCW 4.24.510 to dismiss the 

vendor law firm co-defendants in an untidy case brought by a pro se 

couple. CP 368-69 (citing Jones v. Bellevue School District 405, et. al., 

Case No. 16-2-22028-2 SEA). Defendants neglected to cite this case as 

authority in their CR 12(c) Motion – even though Defendants’ log-rolling 

RCW 4.24.510 argument was plagiarized verbatim from the lawyer-
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defendants’ successful motion to dismiss.8 Leishman’s experience with 

RCW 4.24.510 as a pro se litigant in the Washington courts is not an 

isolated incident. 

The trial court granted Defendants’ CR 12(c) motion on November 

3, 2017. When Defendants filed their motion for fees, they ostentatiously 

declined to seek “reimbursement for the majority of the work performed

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